FEB - 8 2007

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

No. 2005-KA-00915-COA

IN THI	E COURT OF	APPEALS O	OF THE STA	ATE OF MI	SSISSIPPI

WILLIAM G. SCOTT

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appellees.

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi.

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

J. Christopher Klotz (MB# Joshua A. Turner (MB # Coxwell & Associates, PLLC 500 North State Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 601-948-1600

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM SCOTT

APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

VS.

No. 2005-KA-00915-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLE/PLAINTIFF

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Defendant William Scott Raises the following issues on appeal:

- I. The trial judge erred in failing to grant trial counsel's motion to withdraw after revealing to the Court that his client had confessed, that he believed his client was going to offer false testimony and that an unresolveable conflict existed which would prevent counsel from being able to effectively represent the Defendant at trial.
- II. The trial court erred in not recusing itself after defense counsel inappropriately revealed items of attorney client privilege that were prejudicial to the Defendant, thus depriving the Defendant of his due process right to a fair trial.
- III. The Defendant was denied both counsel and the right to be present at a critical phase of the prosecution when the Court did not allow him to be present in chambers during the two Ex Parte hearings in which defense counsel acted as a witness against his client by telling the trial court that the defendant had confessed to him, that he did not believe he could continue to represent him, and that he believed the defendant was about to lie on the stand.
- IV. The trial court erred by not entertaining the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Grant a Speedy Trial and also for not actually dismissing the Defendant's case due to violations of his U.S. Constitutional right to a speedy trial under the 6th and 14th Amendment and Article II, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.
- V. The Court erred by failing to suppress the alleged statement of the Defendant after the State failed to meet its burden of proof under *Agee* by not producing all parties who were witnesses to the custodial statement.
- VI. Trial counsel's case preparation, investigation, and trial performance were insufficient and thus ineffective, depriving the Defendant of his

right to effective assistance of counsel when considered cumulatively.

VII. The trial court erred in not granting a mistrial after the prosecutor repeatedly called the defendant a shyster and con artist.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings:

This is a direct appeal of a non-death penalty capital murder conviction arising from indictment number 02-1149CRG in the First Judicial District of Hinds County. The death penalty was not pursued or requested by the prosecution. The underlying crime supporting the capital murder indictment is armed robbery by gun. The capital murder conviction came after a four day trial at the Hinds County Courthouse in Jackson, Mississippi. The trial occurred from March 28, 2005 to March 31, 2005. The Defendant was convicted and sentenced to life in prison without parole.

The underlying indictment alleges that on or about July 9, 2002 that the Defendant William Scott (hereinafter "Defendant" or "Scott") killed Paula Kay Dinkins while committing an armed robbery upon her. Scott was arrested on July 23, 2002, two weeks after the robbery and shooting which occurred at the Cash Depot on Ellis Avenue in Jackson, Mississippi. The Defendant was indicted for capital murder during the September term of the 2002 grand jury in the First Judicial District of Hinds County. He never made bail and has been incarcerated ever since his initial arrest. Defendant was represented at trial by an Assistant Hinds County Public Defender. Subsequent to the trial, the Court appointed separate counsel to prepare the appeal.

Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues:

Facts: The Crime

Paula Dinkins was a clerk at the Cash Depot on Ellis Avenue in Jackson, Mississippi. On July 9, 2002 the Cash Depot Assistant Manager, Antoine Reed, arrived late for work at 8:46 a.m. Antoine Reed found Paula Dinkins on the floor of a back room, apparently dead from a gunshot wound. (Tr. 243, 255). Antoine Reed saw Paula Dinkins kneeling and unresponsive on the floor in front of the Cash Depot safe. The doors to the safe were open and Reed eventually discovered that the \$2200.00 in cash he had placed in the safe the night before was missing. (Tr. 243-5) Sitting in the Cash Depot lobby when Antoine Reed arrived was a customer, Curtis Hearon. (Tr. 242-3).

The Jackson Police Department investigation concluded that Paula Dinkins arrived at work sometime on the morning she was killed and was the victim of a robbery/homicide. (Tr. 281). Paula Dinkins' husband, Eddie Dinkins, testified inconsistently with his original statement to the police about the time Paula left for work on the morning she was killed. His statement to the police on the day she was killed was time specific; she had left around 8:30 or 8:45 a.m. (Tr. 268). He testified at trial that she left at 8:30 a.m. but may have left much earlier than 8:30 to take the kids to summer school, a fact he never previously mentioned to the police. (Tr. 264, 267-8). The two witnesses at the scene, Assistant Manager Antoine Reed and customer Curtis Heron were questioned but were not considered suspects. (Tr. 313). Neither Reed nor Heron were thought by the police to be present during the shooting.

Physical evidence at the scene was minimal. One 9mm shell casing was found near Paula Dinkins' body. (Tr. 296, 299). No projectile was recovered. (Tr. 307). Mark Devries, the Emergency Medical Technician in the ambulance that responded to the call, speculated without

objection that the stage of coagulation of the blood on the Cash Depot floor indicated Dinkins' time of death was an hour, or less, before the time of his observation at approximately 9:00 a.m. (Tr. 279).

Upon questioning by police, Latasha Bryant, an employee of the Amoco station next door to the Cash Depot, stated that she heard a "loud pop" but did not see anyone that morning. (See Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, Supplemental Report JPD Officer Samuel). Another Amoco employee, Leveda Beverly, stated to police that "she observed a black male come into the store [Amoco], sweating [sic] running down his face. The subject asked for a pack of Newport cigarettes. The clerk stated that the store didn't have any more. The black male subject left the store wearing a pinkish gray and blue pullover shirt in an unknown direction." (See Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, Supplemental Report of JPD Officer Samuel). The clerk reported to police that the sweating man who came into the store was on video, and gave the tape to Officer Samuel who logged the tape into evidence. (See Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, Supplemental Report of JPD Officer Samuel). Defense counsel never took the time to view the video, tough it was available and in the possession of the state. (See Affidavit of Defendant).

Another potential witness from whom the police obtained a statement was Mary Holden, a past customer of Cash Depot. She happened to walk in front of the Cash Depot on the morning of the robbery at about 8:30 to 8:50 a.m. (Tr. 515, and Trial Exhibit 22, Statement of Mary Holden). In her statement, she conveyed that she had seen two males leaving the store together in a hurry. (Trial Exhibit 22). She knew Assistant Manager Antoine Reed from conducting previous check cashing business with him. (Tr. 513-4). She did not identify Antoine Reed or Curtis Hearon as either of the males she saw leaving the scene in a hurry. Nor did she ever identify the Defendant as one of the people she saw leaving in a hurry.

The information that led to the development of Defendant Scott as a suspect was a statement that came from Assistant Manager Antoine Reed to the Jackson Police. Antoine Reed told the police that the Saturday before the shooting, Paula Dinkins had told him something unusual happened at the store. Paula Dinkins told Antoine Reed that she saw Defendant Scott outside the Cash Depot, near an adjacent building, acting strangely. Reed testified at trial that Dinkins had told him that the Defendant came into the store and tried to "coerce her outside". (Tr. 251-4). This incident was never reported to the police. (Tr. 251-2). Reed also testified at trial that he saw the Defendant ride by the store on the day of the shooting, but the Defendant did not stop. (Tr. 257-8).

The Jackson Police Department (JPD) located William Scott through the administration at Hinds Community College which directed JPD to the Defendant's ex-girlfriend, Tamika Wray. (Tr. 314-6). The police interviewed Ms. Wray who stated she and the Defendant had broken up and that the Defendant had moved to Georgia. (Tr. 316-317). Tamika Wray also told the police that she had dinner with the Defendant on the night of the shooting and at that time saw the Defendant with a large sum of money and a gun in his car. (Tr.520-3).

Having received his telephone number from Tamika Wray, the police called the Defendant in Georgia. The Defendant voluntarily gave JPD his new phone number, address and place of employment in Georgia. (Tr. 317). Wanting to question the Defendant, JPD contacted the Marietta, Georgia Police Department and faxed them some outstanding misdemeanor traffic warrants from Rankin County, Mississippi as a pretext for detaining Defendant Scott. (See Exhibit C to Affidavit of Defendant). The Marietta Police received the warrants, went to the Defendant's place of employment and arrested him on the Rankin County warrants. (Tr. 317). The Marietta Police arrested him at work. They charged him, after a search of his car incident to

the arrest on the Mississippi warrants, with having a stolen license plate on his car and possessing an altered social security card. (Tr. 461-2). Neither the validity of the warrants nor the pretextual procedure used to detain the Defendant for questioning were ever challenged or objected to during the trial phase.

Detectives Denson and White, the two Jackson Police Detectives who caused the Rankin County traffic warrants to be forwarded to Georgia, drove to Georgia to interview the Defendant regarding the death of Paula Dinkins. (Tr. 318). They interviewed him in the Cobb County Jail on July 24, 2002. (Pretrial Motion Exhibit 22, Trial Exhibit S-8). The Detectives purport that Scott gave a statement in which he admitted his guilt in the robbery/shooting. (Tr. 318-340 and Trial Exhibit S-8). The Defendant testified that he did talk to the detectives in the Cobb County Jail, but that he did not admit to having robbed or killed Paula Dinkins. (Tr. 93-4, 113-4). He testified that the hand-written initials on the statement were not his and that only portions of the contents of the statement were made during the interview. (Tr. 436). The Defendant testified that he did not have time to read statement during the police interview. (Tr. 113).

Facts: Pretrial and Trial Proceedings:

After his arrest, Defendant was appointed a lawyer from the Hinds County Public Defender's Office. Defendant Scott came to feel that his case was not being handled in a way that preserved his rights or protected his legal interest so he began to file his own *Pro Se* motions and wrote letters to the Court about the concerns he had about his attorney's performance and case investigation. (*See RE* p. 1-7, Docket Sheet Indicating Letters to Court from Defendant, Defendant's Affidavit, and Exhibit B to Defendant's Affidavit, Letters to Court from Defendant). Defendant wrote to the Mississippi Bar Association and copied the trial court concerning the perceived deficiencies in his representation. (*See* Exhibit B to Defendant's

Affidavit, Letters to Court from Defendant). He had specifically asked his attorney to investigate certain aspects of his case and his attorney refused to do the investigation or to undertake the steps requested. (See Tr. 8, Affidavit of Defendant, and Exhibit B to Defendant's Affidavit, Letters to Court).

The most critical failure in the investigation of the case is trial counsel's failure to attempt to view the previously described video tape form the Amoco next door to the Cash Depot. Defendant Scott was told by his attorney that he simply did not have time to go view the tape...a tape which was described by the witnesses to contain footage of someone who may have been a suspect in the case. (See Affidavit of Defendant and Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, Supplemental Report of JPD Officer Samuel).

The Defendant's motions and communications with the Court reveal that there appears to have been a total breakdown in the attorney/client relationship. These communications and *Pro Se* motions are the reason some of the issues of ineffective counsel are raised in this brief when they might normally be found in a Petition for PCR. Ordinarily, these issues might not be part of the apparent record. Out of an abundance of caution, appellate counsel raises these issues since they may be considered apparent from the record, to a degree, from the Defendant's Letters and *Pro Se* motions to the court. Long before trial, Defendant Scott points out to the trial court that there is a problem with his relationship with his attorney. (See Defendant's Affidavit, and Exhibit B to Defendant's Affidavit, Letters to Court). Prior to the beginning of the trial, counsel informed the trial court that he too wanted off of the case because there was a conflict that prevented counsel form being able adequately to represent the Defendant. Counsel asked several times to be relieved as the Defendant's attorney.

Shockingly, defense counsel revealed to the court in detail how the Defendant had allegedly confessed the crime to him and how the rules of professional conduct and ethical cannons prohibited counsel from calling his client to the stand or asking him questions. (Tr. 7-15, and Sealed In Chambers Hearing #1 pp. 1-11). More puzzling is that after this hearing, defense counsel proceeded to put his client on the stand and actively question him during a suppression hearing. (Tr. 92-101).

Defendant vehemently denies that he ever confessed or admitted his guilt to his attorney, or anyone else for that matter. (See Affidavit of Defendant). Defendant was not allowed to be present to defend himself during the two sealed in chambers hearings where trial counsel told the court that the Defendant had confessed to him. (See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #1 pp. 1-11 and See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #2 pp. 1-4).

After the state rested but before the defense presented its case, defense counsel again told the trial court in a closed chambers hearing that an untenable conflict existed, that he could not fairly represent the Defendant, that he could not call his client to the stand or examine him and that substitute counsel should be appointed. (See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #2 pp. 1-4). Trial counsel again revealed to the court that he believed the Defendant was going to offer perjured testimony. (See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #2 pp. 1-2).

Immediately after telling the court for the third time that he needed to withdraw due to ethical dictates stemming from his belief his client would offer false testimony, defense counsel called the defendant to the stand and conducted a detailed direct examination. (Tr. 412-450).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The most troublesome error in this trial springs from the incredible exchanges that took place between defense counsel and the court in chambers. Defense counsel, in no equivocal or vague terms told the judge that his client had outright admitted to the murder and robbery and that because of this admission, defense counsel could not effectively represent the client. The judge denied counsel's request to withdraw. A request for substitute counsel came independently from the Defendant who felt that his lawyer was ignoring reasonable requests of investigation, reasonable requests for motions and not developing the trial strategy that he was suggesting. The requests for substitute counsel were made well in advance of trial.

The first three assignments of error have to do with this ethical morass. The trial court should have granted the defense request to give the Defendant another lawyer. Anytime a lawyer is put into a position of being adverse to his client by making the ultimate breach of client confidence, divulging a confession to a homicide, it is time to allow the that lawyer to leave the case. A client cannot be adequately represented at trial by an attorney who has been compelled to divulge this type of confidence to the judge hearing the case.

The second assignment of error stems from defense counsel's revelation of the alleged confession and the effect it had on the trial court. As the trier of fact on suppression and evidentiary issues, the court was irretrievably tainted by learning from defense counsel that there had been an alleged admission of guilt within the sacrosanct confines of an attorney/client communication. The judge should have stepped aside and allowed an impartial judge to hear the issues of fact and law.

Third, the Defendant was not allowed to be present when his lawyer told the judge that the Defendant had admitted to the murder. This is a two fold problem of denial of counsel at a

critical stage and denial of the Defendant's ability to assert the attorney/client privilege. To illustrate, the defense attorney was essentially a witness against the defendant in an in chambers hearing. The defendant was not present at this in chambers hearing. A procedure that excludes a defendant from a hearing between the a judge and a witness adverse to the defendant would be unacceptable. Certainly, a defense lawyer telling a judge in chambers that his client has admitted to capital murder is an adverse witness to the Defendant. He cannot be considered to be both representing his client and condemning him at the same time. At that moment, the defendant was without counsel and unable to assert his privilege. Again, the lawyer and judge should have stepped back from the case.

Fourth, the Defendant had filed a timely motion to dismiss for failure to provide a speedy trial and asserted it again on the morning of trial. The trial court refused to entertain the motion at any point in the proceedings. The Defendant has squarely prevailed on the four *Barker* tests. The prosecution never rebutted or even addressed the motion. The only statement made by the court was on the morning of trial: "the court is going to give you a speedy trial making your motion for a speedy trial moot". (Tr. 9). This process fails constitutional review and demands reversal.

Fifth, the court did not suppress the statement of the Defendant made to police shortly after his original detention. There were witnesses present at points in the statement, including a notary who witnessed his signature, which were not produced by the state at the suppression hearing. No constitutionally acceptable reason for the witnesses' absence was provided.

Sixth, defense counsel provided deficient representation of the Defendant, amounting to constitutional ineffectiveness. Defendant requests a remand for evidentiary hearing on this issue. Some of the issues of ineffectiveness are; Trial counsel did not object to the pretextual arrest of

the Defendant which led to evidence that would have been fruit of the poisonous tree. Counsel did not investigate the Defendant's alibi or interview witnesses to the crime. Counsel did not attempt to view a piece of video tape evidence from a business adjacent to the crime scene which was in the custody of the police that may have had footage of the real killer. Counsel failed to move to suppress or to object to other crimes evidence. (Defendants Affidavit is Attached as Appendix 1 to this Brief).

The final assignment of error concerns inflammatory statements by the prosecutor during closing argument: to which defense counsel, unfortunately, did not object. An exception to the rule requiring objection is asserted herein.

For these reasons and the rationale provided below, the Defendant moves this Court for reversal and discharge or in the alternative, a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in failing to grant trial counsel's motion to withdraw after divulging to the Court that his client had confessed, that he believed his client was going to offer false testimony, and that an unresolveable conflict existed which would prevent counsel from being able to effectively represent the Defendant at trial.

Attorneys' Duties: It is the duty of attorneys....(4) To maintain inviolate the confidence and, at every peril to themselves, to preserve the secrets of their clients; § 73-3-37, MCA. Emphasis Added.

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