IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM G. SCOTT

APPELLANT

VS.



NO. 2005-KA-0915

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The trial court properly found from the evidence that Scott's statements were voluntarily and intelligently entered. R. 118-121. The record contains credible, corroborated evidence in support of her ruling.

6. The record reflects Scott received effective assistance of counsel. There is a lack of evidence of deficient performance or of prejudice to Scott's defense based upon his counsel's representation. Mr. Knapp successfully had the death penalty charge reduced to murder. This enabled Scott to avoid a possible death penalty. R. 11. There is also no affidavit from Knapp who is being accused of incompetency..

There was also overwhelming evidence of guilt, including inculpatory post-Miranda statements. It also included Scott's own rambling contradictory testimony before the jury. R. 412-500. This included admissions of prior convictions involving dishonesty as well as practices in Mississippi involving deception, trickery and dishonest conduct for financial advantage. R. 450-500.

The filling of motions, arguing motions, calling of witnesses, and making of objections is a matter of "trial strategy." There is also a "strong presumption" of competence on the part of experienced trial counsel. There is a lack of evidence that Knapp did anything that undermined confidence in the fairness of the proceedings against Scott.

7. The record reflects that this issue was waived for failure to even raise it with the trial court. R. 450-456; C.P. 154-155. In addition the record reflects that the prosecution's closing argument was based upon facts in evidence and inferences from those facts. Scott testified in his own behalf. He admitted to having been previously convicted of embezzlement, a crime involving dishonesty, and subterfuge. R. 432. He also admitted to knowingly driving a car without a proper tag, and knowingly using a social security card which he had personally altered for employment and cash checking purposes R. 429-430. He admitted to getting a .9 millimeter handgun from Mr. Bennett. R. 442; 474. Mr. Bennett had already testified that Scott had failed to provide the radio he was to receive in exchange for the 9 millimeter. R. 408. He admitted to lying about being married to Ms. Tamika Wray.

Consequently, the appellee believes that the prosecutor's use of "con artist" and "shyster" were based upon evidence before the jury. The trial court can not be faulted for denying a motion for a mistrial where none was requested, much less warranted. A prosecutor can not be faulted for arguing in closing about evidence before the jury, and valid inferences from those facts.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED A MOTION FOR SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL.

Appeal counsel believes that the trial court erred in not allowing Mr. Knapp to be relieved of his duty to defend Mr. Scott. The trial court should have done so because in an ex- parte hearing Knapp informed the trial court that Scott allegedly had admitted to him that he killed and robbed Mrs. Dinkins. Scott also informed the public defender that he would be using an alibi defense. Knapp informed the court that he did not believe that Scott would allegedly admit what he had done to any subsequent counsel. He also believed that by substituting counsel that there would have been no compromising of Mr. Knapp's ability to defend Scott as hypothetical non-adversarial counsel. Appellant's brief page 17-21.

To the contrary, the record reflects that Scott denied having made any inculpatory statements. This would be any admissions about his killing Ms. Jenkins or robbing the Cash Depot. He denied doing so in his pre-trial motions, in his testimony at a suppression hearing, and in his testimony before the jury. . C.P. 31-40; R. 91-116; 445. Scott's affidavit (although never admitted into the record), nevertheless, also denies that he ever told anyone that he was guilty. See Scott's pro se Affidavit ¶ 23.

In addition, Knapp's questions about the actual murder were made in the context of having Scott explain to the jury which of his statements to investigators, already in the record, were accurate. R. 437-442. In other words, the Appellee would submit the record reflects that Scott's defense to the murder charge was not hampered by any thing Mr. Knapp did or said prior to or during the trial.

In addition, there was insufficient reasons for allowing the public defender to be removed from representing Scott. This request came on the day of trial with a jury waiting. While Scott filed a "motion to substitute counsel," he also had made no arrangements for private counsel. R. 7-17. Likewise, he had filed "two motions to dismiss" for alleged failure to have been given "a speedy trial." C.P.82-96; 116-131.

The record reflects that Mr. Knapp represented Scott effectively, having the capital murder charge reduced to murder and thereby removing the possibility of a life sentence. R. 11; C.P. 147. This shows Mr. Knapp's compliance with rule 1.2 of the Canons of Professional Conduct. He abided by his clients wishes as to how he would defend himself. He did this after Scott benefitted from his counsel's successful negotiations to eliminate the death penalty from consideration in the instant cause.

The record reflects that Mr. Knapp represented Scott effectively, given the evidence against him. Scott chose to testify in his own behalf. R. 412-500. This was against the advise of his counsel. He also presented two witnesses, Mary Holden and Tamika Wray, as alleged alibi witnesses. R. 501-538. The record reflects that there is a lack of evidence for holding that Scott was entitled to counsel other than that provided by the public defender's office.

As stated by the trial court in her ruling denying Mr. Knapp and Mr Scott's request for substitute counsel.

1. Defendant has failed to state adequate reasons for substitution of counsel. Court appointed attorneys Tom Fortner and Mike Knapp are both competent to try defendant's capital murder case (death penalty not sought). Trial date is set for March 28, 2005 and those attorneys are familiar with the case, and appointment of new counsel will result in delay of trial, which would be contrary to defendant's speedy trial motion. C.P. 147. (Emphasis by Appellee).

In Feazell v. State 750 So.2d 1286, *1288 (Miss. App. 2000), the Court found that the

granting of a continuance and/or a motion to withdraw counsel was within the trial court's discretion.

¶7. We address first the motion of Feazell's court-appointed counsel to withdraw. The motion was filed on the morning of the scheduled trial and was denied. The basis for this motion was Feazell's desire to hire private counsel and his failure to cooperate with his current attorney. On the hearing on the motion, appointed counsel stated that Feazell was unhappy with the decisions made by his attorneys. Additionally, Feazell allegedly believed that the victim's family had bribed his attorneys to assure a conviction. Upon examination, Feazell testified that he had contacted a private attorney who would not proceed without a continuance. Feazell also seemed to indicate that the private attorney recommended the same course of action taken by his appointed counsel.

¶ 8. Feazell had once before been permitted to replace an appointed counsel because of the allegation that this previous attorney had been "bought out" by the victim's family. The judge termed the new motion filed on the day of trial as a "thirteenth hour" motion. To the extent one of the grounds was Feazell's refusal to cooperate, the judge concluded that Feazell was fully aware of the consequences of his actions and would have to bear them. To find error would require us to conclude that the trial judge is at the mercy of the manipulations of a defendant. We do not so find. Counsel's motion to withdraw was properly denied. (Emphasis by Appellee).

In **Davis v. State** 811 So.2d 346, *351 (Miss. App. 2001), the Court found that Davis was playing "cat and mouse" with the court. Davis wanted self representation yet also wanted to claim ineffective assistance of counsel for his ineptitude during his trial.

¶ 9. While it is unclear from the brief, Davis implies that he was provided with ineffective assistance of counsel. It is not made clear by the brief what aspect of assistance of counsel was ineffective. Rather, Davis claims that he was incompetent to represent himself and, for that reason, allowed inadmissable hearsay evidence to be admitted. While the defendant has a right to self-representation, "[H]e may not use this right to play a 'cat and mouse' game with the court, ... or by ruse or stratagem fraudulently seek to have the trial judge placed in a position where, in moving along the business of the court, the judge appears to be arbitrarily depriving the defendant of Counsel." **Evans v. State**, 273 So.2d 495 (Miss.1973). The record reflects the trial judge forewarned Davis of the dangers and responsibilities of self-representation. Davis chose to ignore those warnings and proceed on his own behalf. It is far too late to argue that he lacked the legal knowledge to represent himself.

In the instant cause, Scott wanted to fault his counsel for not effectively finding alibi witnesses for which he had no addresses or telephone numbers in order to get new counsel while at the same time trying to have his case dismissed for failure to provide him with a speedy trial.

The Appellee would submit that this is a variation of "the cat and mouse game" condemned in **Davis**.

The Appellee would submit that under this set of facts, as summarized above, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED, AND THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED A MOTION FOR RECUSAL.

Appellant counsel believes that the trial court erred in failing to recuse itself from hearing this case. He believes she should have done so once Mr. Knapp informed her that he believed that Mr. Scott was going to give false testimony in two different versions. First, when he testified, and second when he had alibi witnesses testify. He believes that by hearing of Scott's alleged inculpatory admissions of guilt the trial court lost her impartiality to serve as a fact finder at the suppression hearing and during the trial. Appellant's brief page 21-25.

To the contrary, the record reflects that this issue was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court. The trial court was not asked to recuse itself. This issue was also not raised by appeal counsel or by Scott pro se. R. 29-121; C.P. 154-156; 162-164.

In **Haddox v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994), the Court stated:

Because these arguments are not preserved for appeal, this Court cannot reverse based upon them. The assertion on appeal of grounds for an objection which was not the assertion at trial is not an issue properly preserved on appeal. **Baine v. State**, 606 So. 2d 1076 (Miss. 1992); **Willie v. State**, 585 So. 2d 660, 671 (Miss. 1991); Crawford v. State, 515 So. 2d 936,938 (Miss. 1987);...

Without conceding that this issue was waived, I will also address the merits. The record reflects that the trial court did not show any partiality in her ruling on factual issues. Nor does the record indicate any attempt by the court, or the public defender to prevent Mr. Scott from defending himself. The record reflects Scott did so in the manner in which he wished before the jury. Against his counsel's advise, he chose to testify in his own behalf.

Prior to trial, at the suppression hearing as well as before the jury, Scott denied having

signed the Miranda waiver, or having made any admissions much less confessions of having actually having killed Ms. Dinkins. C.P. 37-38; R. 91-116.

There was insufficient reasons for the trial court to recuse itself. The record indicates that two bench conferences were held and not placed in the open record. These hearings were about Mr. Knapp's representation of Scott as a public defender. R. 14;411. The record contains Scott's "motions for substitute counsel" prior to trial contained various unsubstantiated charges against Mr. Knapp. This included alleged filling of "several complaints" with the Mississippi State Bar. C.P. 56. The trial court found Mr. Knapp could continue to represent Scott, given the facts of this case, and the fact the trial was set for trial after numerous delays, and two pro se dismissal for alleged speedy trial violation motions were filed by Scott pro se. It must also be noted that "speedy trial" is also being used on appeal as allegedly grounds for reversal. See issue IV.

In Ferguson v. State 507 So.2d 94, *97 (Miss.1987), relied upon by Scott, there was record evidence that trial counsel informed the jury "in open court" that Ferguson was lying.

We are of the opinion that an independent violation of the Sixth Amendment occurred in the present case when Ferguson's lawyer denounced him as a liar in open court before the trier of fact, and that this was an evil of such magnitude that no showing of prejudice is necessary for a reversal.

[2] Strickland itself recognizes that a lawyer has a duty to represent his client not only with diligence but with loyalty. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L. Ed.2d 674, 694 (1984). See also, Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 744, 87 S. Ct. 1396, 1400, 18 L. Ed.2d 493, 498 (1967); U.S. v. Alvarez, 580 F.2d 1251, 1256 (5th Cir.1978). No more devastating breach of this duty can be imagined than for a lawyer to denounce his client before the trier of fact as untruthful.

Lowery v. Cardwell, 575 F.2d 727 (9th Cir.1978), was, like the present case, a bench trial. In that case a lawyer was conducting direct examination of his client. From the answers it became apparent to the lawyer that his client had perjured herself. The lawyer immediately moved for permission to withdraw from representation, stating that he could not give his reasons for doing so. The Ninth Circuit held that the lawyer's action had effectively deprived the defendant of his

Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial. The court reasoned that under the circumstances, the motion amounted to an unequivocal announcement that the defendant had lied on the stand. Although it commended the lawyer for refusing to condone his client's perjury, the court saw no way out of reversing the conviction:

We start with the basic proposition that where under these circumstances, counsel informs the fact-finder of his belief [that his client was lying] he has by that action disabled the fact-finder from judging the merits of the defendant's defense. Further, he has by his action openly placed himself in opposition to his client upon her defense. The consequences of such action on the part of counsel in our judgment are such as to deprive defendant of a fair trial. 575 F.2d at 730.

If such reasoning applied in Lowery, which merely involved the fact finder's drawing an inference from the lawyer's conduct, it obviously applies with even greater force in the present case, where the lawyer denounced his client in open court as a liar. How can a trial be called fair when the defendant's own attorney is attacking him

The record indicates that this issue was waived. There was no request for recusal. In addition, the record reflects that the public defender did not state or imply any doubts about Scott's veracity before the jury. Neither did the trial court. This issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND SCOTT WAS NOT HARMED BY NOT BEING PRESENT IN CHAMBERS ON A MATTER OR POSSIBLE CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN ALLOWING PUBLIC DEFENDER REPRESENTATION IN THIS CASE.

Appeal counsel believes that the trial court erred in not allowing Scott to be present during two ex parte hearings held between the trial court and the public defender. Since the public defender admitted to the trial court that Scott had allegedly indicated that he was guilty, this made Scott's presence necessary. Appeal counsel believes this conference could be considered "a crucial phase" of the trial against him for murder. By not being present, Scott could not defend himself against the alleged pre-trial admission of guilt. Appellant's brief page 23-25.

To the contrary, the record reflects that this issue was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court. R. 29-121; C.P. 154-156; 162-164. **Haddox v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994)

Without conceding that this issue was waived, I will also address the merits. Scott in his pretrial motions to the court, in his testimony before the court at the suppression hearing and before jury denied that he ever at any time told anyone that he, in fact, was responsible for the death and robbing of Ms Dinkins. C.P. 37-38. R. 91-116; 445. There is therefore no record evidence from Scott corroborating his counsel that he made any admission of guilt under any circumstances.

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